FILED

APRIL 24, 2015

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 32722-1-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHIN	GTON,	
	Plaintiff/Respondent,	
vs.		
ALEXANDER J. COM	MO, JR.,	
	Defendant/Appellant.	
	Appellant's Brief	

DAVID N. GASCH WSBA No. 18270 P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Appellant

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in concluding in its written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, "The defendant's statements were made freely and voluntarily, and should be admitted under CrR 3.5." CP 4.
- 2. The trial court erred in admitting Mr. Como's confession to Detective Goodwater.
- 3. The record does not support the finding Mr. Como has the current or future ability to pay the imposed legal financial obligations.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Was Mr. Como's confession to the police involuntary and thus inadmissible because it was made as a result of an implied promise by the detective that Mr. Como would not get into any trouble so long as the sexual intercourse with the 13-year-old victim was consensual?
- 2. Since the directive to pay LFO's was based on an unsupported finding of ability to pay, should the matter be remanded for the sentencing court to make individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay before imposing LFOs?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alexander Como was convicted of second degree rape of a child for having sexual intercourse with C.D., a 13-year-old girl. CP 1, 17, 22.

Mr. Como, who was 25 at the time, went to the Walla Walla Police

Department on February 8, 2014, and asked to speak with Detective

Marcus Goodwater. CP 3. Mr. Como discussed his concerns about an 18year-old male being involved in a romantic relationship with C.D. CP 3;

RP 78. The detective suspected Mr. Como himself had been involved in a sexual relationship with the young girl prior to this interview and inquired about that relationship. CP 3; RP 14. Mr. Como denied any sexual relationship with C.D. until the detective employed a ruse, at which point Mr. Como admitted to a consensual sexual relationship with C.D. CP 3-4;

RP 12.

At the CrR 3.5 hearing the detective testified the ruse he used was claiming to have DNA evidence of sexual contact that he did not actually have. CP 4; RP 12. However, at trial the detective admitted on cross examination that during the interview and prior to Mr. Como's confession, the detective told Mr. Como he understood Mr. Como and C.D. had a romantic relationship, that the relationship was consensual, and that he, the detective, was not interested in getting Mr. Como into any trouble. RP 79-80. Detective Goodwater also referred to C.D. as a beautiful woman who wore revealing clothes. RP 79.

At sentencing the Court imposed discretionary costs of \$2378.65 and mandatory costs of \$800¹, for a total Legal Financial Obligation (LFO) of \$3178.65. CP 60-61. The Judgment and Sentence contained the following language:

¶ 2.5 Legal Financial Obligations/Restitution. (RCW 9.94A760) The court has considered the defendant's past, present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. The court specifically finds that the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations ordered herein

CP 60.

Mr. Como informed the Court that he had physical problems and was unable to work. RP 149, 153. The Court did not inquire further into Mr. Como's financial resources or consider the burden payment of LFOs would impose on him. RP 153. The Court ordered LFO payments of \$50 per month to begin 90 days after his release from custody. CP 61.

This appeal followed. CP 77. The trial court signed and entered the Order of Indigency for this appeal. RP 153-54

_

¹ \$500 Victim Assessment, \$200 criminal filing and \$100 DNA fee. CP 60-61.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Como's confession to the police was involuntary and thus inadmissible because it was made as a result of an implied promise by the detective that Mr. Como would not get into any trouble so long as the sexual intercourse with the 13-year-old victim was consensual.²

Mr. Como maintains that his confession was coerced in violation of his right not to incriminate himself. The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution states that "[n]o person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." U.S. Const. amend. V. Article I, section 9 of the Washington State Constitution states that "[n]o person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against himself." The protection provided by the state provision is coextensive with that provided by the Fifth Amendment. *State v. Unga*, 165 Wash. 2d 95, 100, 196 P.3d 645 (2008).

Because the Fifth Amendment protects a person from being compelled to give evidence against himself or herself, the question whether admission of a confession constituted a violation of the Fifth Amendment does not depend solely on whether the confession was voluntary, rather, "coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to the

² Assignments of Error Nos. 1 And 2.

finding that a confession is not 'voluntary.' " *Unga*, 165 Wash. 2d at 101 (citing *Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 167, 107 S.Ct. 515, 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986)). Thus, both the conduct of law enforcement officers in exerting pressure on the defendant to confess and the defendant's ability to resist the pressure are important. *United States v. Brave Heart*, 397 F.3d 1035, 1040 (8th Cir.2005).

The totality-of-the-circumstances test specifically applies to determine whether a confession was coerced by any express or implied promise or by the exertion of any improper influence. *State v. Broadaway*, 133 Wash.2d 118, 132, 942 P.2d 363 (1997); *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 285, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). Officials cannot extract a confession "by any sort of threats or violence, nor ... by any direct or implied promises, however slight, nor by the exertion of any improper influence." *Hutto v. Ross*, 429 U.S. 28, 30, 97 S.Ct. 202, 50 L.Ed.2d 194 (1976).

Whether any promise has been made must be determined and, if one was made, the court must then apply the totality of the circumstances test and determine whether the defendant's will was overborne by the promise, i.e., there must be a direct causal relationship between the promise and the confession. *Unga*, 165 Wash. 2d at 101-02 (internal

citations omitted). This causal connection is not merely "but for" causation; the court does "not ask whether the confession would have been made in the absence of the interrogation." *Unga*, 165 Wash. 2d at 102 (citing *Miller v. Fenton*, 796 F.2d 598, 604 (3d Cir.1986)). "If the test was whether a statement would have been made but for the law enforcement conduct, virtually no statement would be deemed voluntary because few people give incriminating statements in the absence of some kind of official action." *Id.* (citing *United States v. Guerrero*, 847 F.2d 1363, 1366 n. 1 (9th Cir.1988)).

A suspect's decision to confess must be a product of his or her own balancing of competing considerations for the confession to be voluntary. *Id.* (internal citation omitted); accord *United States v. Miller*, 984 F.2d 1028, 1031 (9th Cir.1993); *United States v. Durham*, 741 F.Supp. 498, 504 (D.Del.1990). "The question ... [is] whether [the interrogating officer's] statements were so manipulative or coercive that they deprived [the suspect] of his ability to make an unconstrained, autonomous decision to confess." *Id.* (citing *Miller*, 796 F.2d at 605); see *United States v. Baldwin*, 60 F.3d 363, 365 (7th Cir.1995) ("the proper test is whether the interrogator resorted to tactics that in the circumstances prevented the suspect from making a rational decision whether to confess or otherwise

inculpate himself"), vacated on other grounds, 517 U.S. 1231, 116 S.Ct. 1873, 135 L.Ed.2d 169 (1996), adhered to on remand, 124 F.3d 205 (7th Cir.1997).

Misrepresenting the legal consequences of a suspect's statements to the point that the suspect could not make a knowing and intelligent decision, goes beyond misrepresenting evidence simply as a ruse. In *Moore v. Czerniak*, police informed the suspect that if he confessed to accidentally killing the victim, the charges against him would be dropped, or, more likely, reduced from murder to a lesser offense. *Moore v. Czerniak*, 574 F.3d 1092, 1103, n. 10 (9th Cir.2009)_rev'd and remanded on other grounds sub nom. *Premo v. Moore*, 562 U.S. 115, 131 S. Ct. 733, 178 L. Ed. 2d 649 (2011). The Ninth Circuit concluded this "implied promise" was "sufficiently compelling to overbear [the defendant's] will." 534 F.3d at1139, n. 10. (citing *Guerrero*, 847 F.2d at 1366; see *Haynes v. Washington*, 373 U.S. 503, 513-14, 83 S.Ct. 1336, 10 L.Ed.2d 513 (1963).

Here, the detective misrepresented the legal consequences of Mr. Como's statements to the point that he could not make a knowing and intelligent decision. The detective emphasized he understood Mr. Como and C.D. had a romantic relationship, that the relationship was consensual, and that he, the detective, was not interested in getting Mr. Como into any

trouble. RP 79-80. Detective Goodwater also referred to C.D. as a beautiful woman who wore revealing clothes. RP 79³. The implied promise to Mr. Como was, "You won't get in trouble for having sex with this beautiful woman as long as it was consensual." This promise is a complete misrepresentation of the legal consequences of having sex with a 13-year-old girl.

Mr. Como did not confess to having sexual relations with C.D. until after this misrepresentation, together with the detective claiming to have DNA evidence that he did not actually have.⁴ Therefore, since the implied false promise of no legal repercussions for consensual sex was sufficiently compelling to overbear Mr. Como's will, his confession was involuntary and should have been suppressed. *Unga, Moore*, supra.

³ The State may argue that since this evidence was only elicited at trial and not at the 3.5 hearing, it should not be considered. However, on appeal, appellate courts examine the entire record that was before the trial court. *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wash. 2d 331, 340, 259 P.3d 209 (2011).

⁴ The false DNA claim alone does not necessarily render the confession involuntary. See *State v. Burkins*, 94 Wash. App. 677, 696, 973 P.2d 15, 27 (1999).

- 2. Since the directive to pay LFO's was based on an unsupported finding of ability to pay, the matter should be remanded for the sentencing court to make individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay before imposing LFOs.⁵
 - a. This court should exercise its discretion and accept review.

Mr. Como did not make this argument below. However, the Washington Supreme Court has held the ability to pay legal financial LFOs may be raised for the first time on appeal by discretionary review.
State v. Blazina, __Wn.2d__, 344 P.3d 680, 683 (March 12, 2015). In
Blazina the Court felt compelled to accept review under RAP 2.5(a)
because "[n]ational and local cries for reform of broken LFO systems
demand ... reach[ing] the merits" Blazina, 344 P.3d at 683. The
Court reviewed the pervasive nature of trial courts' failures to consider
each defendant's ability to pay in conjunction with the unfair disparities
and penalties that indigent defendants experience based upon this failure.

Public policy favors direct review by this Court. Indigent defendants who are saddled with wrongly imposed LFOs have many "reentry difficulties" that ultimately work against the State's interest in accomplishing rehabilitation and reducing recidivism. *Blazina*, 344 P.3d

-

⁵ Assignment of Error No. 3.

at 684. Availability of a statutory remission process down the road does little to alleviate the harsh realities incurred by virtue of LFOs that are improperly imposed at the outset. As the *Blazina* Court bluntly recognized, one societal reality is "the state cannot collect money from defendants who cannot pay." *Blazina*, 344 P.3d at 684. Requiring defendants who never had the ability to pay LFOs to go through collections and a remission process to correct a sentencing error that could have been corrected on direct appeal is a financially wasteful use of administrative and judicial process. A more efficient use of state resources would result from this court's remand back to the sentencing judge who is already familiar with the case to make the ability to pay inquiry.

As a final matter of public policy, this Court has the immediate opportunity to expedite reform of the broken LFO system. This Court should embrace its obligation to uphold and enforce the Washington Supreme Court's decision that RCW 10.01.160(3) requires the sentencing judge to make an individualized inquiry on the record into the defendant's current and future ability to pay before the court imposes LFOs. *Blazina*, 344 P.3d at 685; see also *Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist.* #405, 129 Wn. App. 832, 867-68, 120 P.3d 616, 634 (2005) rev'd in part sub nom. *Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist.* #405, 164 Wn.2d

199, 189 P.3d 139 (2008) (The principle of stare decisis—"to stand by the thing decided"—binds the appellate court as well as the trial court to follow Supreme Court decisions). This requirement applies to the sentencing court in Mr. Como's case regardless of his failure to object. See, *Kitsap Alliance of Prop. Owners v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 160 Wn. App. 250, 259-60, 255 P.3d 696, 701 (2011) ("Once the Washington Supreme Court has authoritatively construed a statute, the legislation is considered to have always meant that interpretation.")(citations omitted).

The sentencing court's signature on a judgment and sentence with boilerplate language stating that it engaged in the required inquiry is wholly inadequate to meet the requirement. *Blazina*, 344 P.3d at 685. Post-*Blazina*, one would expect future trial courts to make the appropriate ability to pay inquiry on the record or defense attorneys to object in order to preserve the error for direct review. Mr. Como respectfully submits that in order to ensure he and all indigent defendants are treated as the LFO statute requires, this Court should reach the unpreserved error and accept review. *Blazina*, 344 P.3d at 687 (<u>FAIRHURST</u>, J. (concurring in the result)).

b. Substantive argument.

There is insufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding that Mr. Como has the present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations. Courts may require an indigent defendant to reimburse the state for the costs only if the defendant has the financial ability to do so. Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 47-48, 94 S.Ct. 2116, 40 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974); State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 915-16, 829 P.2d 166 (1992); RCW 10.01.160(3); RCW 9.94A.760(2). The imposition of costs under a scheme that does not meet with these requirements, or the imposition of a penalty for a failure to pay absent proof that the defendant had the ability to pay, violates the defendant's right to equal protection under Washington Constitutuion, Article 1, § 12 and United States Constitutuion, Fourteenth Amendment. Fuller v. Oregon, supra. It further violates equal protection by imposing extra punishment on a defendant due to his or her poverty. Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 665, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 2071, 76 L.Ed.2d 221 (1983).

RCW 9.94A.760(1) provides that upon a criminal conviction, a superior court "may order the payment of a legal financial obligation."

RCW 10.01.160(1) authorizes a superior court to "require a defendant to pay costs." These costs "shall be limited to expenses specially incurred by

the state in prosecuting the defendant." RCW 10.01.160(2). In addition, "[t]he court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them." RCW 10.01.160(3). RCW 10.01.160(3) requires the record to reflect that the sentencing judge made an individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay before the court imposes LFOs. *Blazina*, 344 P.3d at 685. "This inquiry also requires the court to consider important factors, such as incarceration and a defendant's other debts, including restitution, when determining a defendant's ability to pay." *Id*. The remedy for a trial court's failure to make this inquiry is remand for a new sentencing hearing. *Id*.

Blazina further held trial courts should look to the comment in court rule GR 34 for guidance. *Id.* This rule allows a person to obtain a waiver of filing fees and surcharges on the basis of indigent status, and the comment to the rule lists ways that a person may prove indigent status.

Id. (citing GR 34). For example, under the rule, courts must find a person indigent if the person establishes that he or she receives assistance from a needs-based, means-tested assistance program, such as Social Security or food stamps. *Id.* (citing comment to GR 34 listing facts that prove indigent status). In addition, courts must find a person indigent if his or her household income falls below 125 percent of the federal poverty

guideline. *Id.* Although the ways to establish indigent status remain nonexhaustive, if someone does meet the GR 34 standard for indigency, courts should seriously question that person's ability to pay LFOs. *Id.*

While the ability to pay is a necessary threshold to the imposition of costs, a court need not make formal specific findings of ability to pay: "[n]either the statute nor the constitution requires a trial court to enter formal, specific findings regarding a defendant's ability to pay court costs." *Curry*, 118 Wn.2d at 916. However, *Curry* recognized that both RCW 10.01.160 and the federal constitution "direct [a court] to consider ability to pay." *Id.* at 915-16. The individualized inquiry must be made on the record. *Blazina*, 344 P.3d at 685.

Here, the judgment and sentence contains a biolerplate statement the the trial court has "considered" Mr. Como's present or future ability to pay legal financial obligations. A finding must have support in the record. A trial court's findings of fact must be supported by substantial evidence. State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 343, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (citing Nordstrom Credit, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 120 Wn.2d 935, 939, 845 P.2d 1331 (1993)). The trial court's determination "as to the defendant's resources and ability to pay is essentially factual and should be reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard." State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App.

393, 267 P.3d 511, 517 fn.13 (2011), citing *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116, 837 P.2d 646 (1991).

"Although *Baldwin* does not require formal findings of fact about a defendant's present or future ability to pay LFOs, the record must be sufficient for [the appellate court] to review whether 'the trial court judge took into account the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden imposed by LFOs under the clearly erroneous standard." "

Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P.3d at 517, citing *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 312 (bracketed material added) (internal citation omitted).

Here, despite the boilerplate language in paragraph 2.5 of the judgment and sentence, the record does not show the trial court took into account Mr. Como's financial resources and the potential burden of imposing LFOs on him. Mr. Como informed the Court that he had physical problems and was unable to work. RP 149, 153. Yet the Court did not inquire further into Mr. Como's financial resources or consider the burden payment of LFOs would impose on him. RP 153. Despite finding him indigent for this appeal, the Court ordered LFO payments of \$50 per month to begin 90 days after his release from custody. CP 61; RP 153-54

Since the boilerplate finding that Mr. Como has the present or future ability to pay LFOs is simply not supported by the record, the matter

should be remanded for the sentencing court to make an individualized inquiry into Mr. Como 's current and future ability to pay before imposing LFOs. *Blazina*, 344 P.3d at 685.

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the convictions should be reversed or in the alternative, the case should be remanded to make an individualized inquiry into Mr. Como's current and future ability to pay before imposing LFOs.