32722-1-III

FILED

JUN 19, 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALEXANDER J. COMO, JR.,

Appellant.

DIRECT APPEAL
FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF WALLA WALLA COUNTY

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Respectfully submitted:



by: Teresa Chen, WSBA 31762
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

P.O. Box 5889
Pasco, Washington 99301
(509) 545-3561

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

V. ARGUMENT

- A. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE DEFENDANT'S CONFESSION, THE VOLUNTARINESS OF WHICH IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The Defendant alleges that his confession was involuntary and, therefore, inadmissible at trial. A decision involving the admission of evidence lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed unless an abuse of discretion can be shown. *State v. Castellanos*, 132 Wn.2d 94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997). Discretion is abused if exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *State v. Thang*, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002).

In this case, the court admitted the evidence after a CrR 3.5 hearing. CP 3-5. A confession is admissible if the state can show by a preponderance of the evidence that it was voluntarily made considering the totality of the circumstances. *State v. Unga*, 165 Wn.2d 95, 100, 196 P.3d 645 (2008); *State v. Braun*, 82 Wn.2d 157, 162, 509 P.2d 742 (1973). The trial court's determination of voluntariness will not be disturbed on appeal if it is supported by substantial evidence in the record. *State v. Ng*, 110 Wn.2d 32, 37, 750 P.2d 632 (1988).

In this case, the Defendant arrived uninvited, was free to leave, and

did leave on his own. Because the Defendant was free to leave, the interview was not custodial and the requirement for a Miranda advisement was not triggered. *Oregon v. Mathiason*, 429 U.S. 492, 495, 97 S.Ct. 711, 50 L.Ed.2d 714 (1977).

Initially, the Defendant argued that he was sleep deprived at the time of his confession. RP 20. This was contradicted by his own recorded statement to the detective that morning that he had only just woken at 5 a.m.. RP 23, 62.

At the CrR 3.5 hearing, the court also heard testimony about the ruse. As the Defendant correctly acknowledges, a ruse will not render a confession involuntary. Appellant's Brief at 13, n.4. A confession has been held to be voluntary even when police misstated the law about the admissibility of evidence¹, misrepresented polygraph results², misrepresented DNA evidence³, misstated that a co-suspect named him as the triggerman⁴, and concealed the fact that the victim had died⁵.

The test for voluntariness in the presence of deception is whether the state's behavior overbears the defendant's will to resist and "bring[s]

¹ *State v. Braun*, 82 Wn.2d 157, 509 P.2d 742 (1973).

² *State v. Keiper*, 493 P.2d 750 (Or. App. 1972).

³ *State v. Burkins*, 94 Wn. App. 677, 973 P.2d 15 (1999).

⁴ *Commonwealth v. Baity*, 237 A.2d 172 (Pa. 1968).

⁵ *People v. Smith*, 246 N.E.2d 689 (Ill. App. 1969), *cert. denied*, 397 U.S. 1001, 90 S.Ct. 1150, 25 L.Ed.2d 412 (1970).

about confessions not freely self-determined.” *State v. Braun*, 82 Wn.2d at 161-62 (quoting *Rogers v. Richmond*, 365 U.S. 534, 544, 81 S.Ct. 735, 5 L.Ed.2d 760 (1961)). In this case, the ruse was not even that DNA evidence implicated the Defendant, but only that there may be DNA evidence to test. Such information cannot be said to overbear the Defendant’s will to resist.

The other information before the court (RP 6-13, 62-71, 76-78) was that the Defendant was an adult who showed up of his own accord with an agenda. He was free to come and go, was so informed, and sat closest to the exit. He was not under the influence of any intoxicating substance, claimed to be well rested, and appeared oriented and mentally stable. There were no other parties to the recorded interview who may have been influencing him; C.D.’s father was present in the waiting area to support the Defendant. RP 13. The Defendant felt sufficiently comfortable with the detective to share his carpal tunnel syndrome. He was relaxed, open, affable, easy going, and easy to talk to. RP 77. The detective made him no promises. The interview lasted 45-50 minutes.

Considering the totality of the circumstances, the court’s determination is well supported by this record.

The Defendant does not challenge the CrR 3.5 finding based on

any evidence or argument presented to the court at that time. Nor did the Defendant ask the court to revisit its ruling prior to the detective testifying. Therefore, the court's reliance on its finding is justified. Because the court determined after a full hearing that the confession was voluntary, and because the confession was relevant, the court did not abuse its discretion.

The Defendant argues that, in determining the correctness of the trial court's ruling, it is appropriate for the appellate court to examine the record made *after* the trial court's ruling. Appellant's Brief at 13, n.3. It is not. Nor is this the holding in *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d 331, 340, 259 P.3d 209 (2011).

In that case, the defendant Brousseau complained that the court could not find a 7 year old child victim to be competent to testify unless it first subjected her to pretrial examination. *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 334. The supreme court disagreed. *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 335. It was sufficient to rely on other witnesses' pretrial testimony which established the necessary criteria. *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 337.

It is true that the opinion discusses the child's testimony at trial. *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 338-39. This does not demonstrate that information arising *after* the court's ruling can be used to invalidate a court's ruling already made. Instead, this only shows that it may be

appropriate to look at the entire record for a factor which is in flux. “A child found competent at one point in time may become incompetent at trial.” *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn. 2d at 348. Competency “may be challenged at any time.” *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 341. But the burden is “on the party objecting to the child’s competency as a witness” and “the issue becomes how a party must present the challenge.” *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 342. Brousseau “did not renew his objections to the J.R.’s testimony.” *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 339.

The voluntariness of a *completed* confession, however, will not fluctuate. And the defense did not ask to revisit the court’s ruling based on any new evidence or argument.

The trial court’s ruling admitting evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. It is not an abuse of discretion to fail to consider information or argument that was not presented to the court.

The Defendant challenges the voluntariness of his confession based on the following portion of the detective’s testimony.

Q. You also made the point of telling him that you weren’t interested in getting him into trouble, correct?

A. I believe I stated something along that.

RP 80. The detective explained that when people tell him things that most

people would find repulsive or condemnable, he has to put on a pleasant, non-judgmental face. RP 68-69 (“I’ve seen things that make me want to go home and shower, and I have to pretend that it’s okay”). He establishes rapport with interviewees, befriends them, because if they feel he can relate to them, they will want to talk to him. RP 69.

In closing argument, defense argued that the detective said he was not interested in the child rape so long as it was consensual and the parties used contraceptives. RP 108. But this argument is not supported by the record.

On appeal, the Defendant argues that the detective’s statement (that he wasn’t interested in getting the Defendant into trouble) is tantamount to an “implied promise to Mr. Como [that], ‘You won’t get into trouble for having sex with this beautiful woman as long as it was consensual.’” Appellant’s Brief at 13. It is a quite a leap to interpret a promise of immunity from a statement of impartiality. The interpretation is implausible.

There is no error in the admission of the confession.

B. THE COURT’S IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS IS WELL SUPPORTED IN THE RECORD.

The Defendant raises this challenge for the first time on appeal,

relying on *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Appellant's Brief at 14. In *State v. Blazina*, this Court held that it is **not error** to **decline** to reach the merits on a challenge to the imposition of LFO's made for the first time on appeal. *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 832-33. "Unpreserved LFO errors do not command review as a matter of right under *Ford* and its progeny." *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 833. The decision to review is discretionary on the reviewing court under RAP 2.5. *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 832. And the "Court of Appeals properly declined discretionary review" in that case. *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 834.

The *Blazina* court opted to use its discretion in a single case in order to highlight for trial courts the need to attend more closely to this issue at sentencing. The *Blazina* case does not reject RAP 2.5(a) and does not overrule *State v. Duncan*, 180 Wn. App. 246, 327 P.3d 699 (2014). Consistent with *Blazina*, it is not error to decline to hear a challenge to the finding of ability to pay which is raised for the first time appeal.

RAP 2.5(a) reflects a policy which encourages the efficient use of judicial resources and discourages late claims that could have been corrected with a timely objection. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). The concerns raised on appeal are necessarily those that

were in the record below, i.e. that the Defendant had not been working and had physical complaints. Because this information existed in the record, there is no reason defense counsel could not have objected to the imposition of LFO's at the sentencing hearing ... except for those so well stated in the *Duncan* opinion.

In *State v. Duncan*, the court held that it would not review a challenge to LFO's made for the first time on appeal. The decision appropriately balances the efficient use of judicial resources with fairness. As the *Duncan* opinion explains, at imposition, the State's burden of proof is so low that it can be met by a single reference in a presentence report in which the defendant described himself as employable. *State v. Duncan*, 180 Wn. App. at 250, (citing *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 106, 308 P.3d 755 (2013)). That burden is met here.

The Defendant argues that there is insufficient support in the record for the trial court's finding of Mr. Como's ability to pay. Appellant's Brief at 17, 20. This is untrue. Before imposing sentence, the judge emphasized that he had "read Dr. Page's psychological report [and] reviewed the Presentence Investigation and recommendation." RP 147. These sentencing memoranda more than sufficiently demonstrate the court's individualized investigation into the Defendant's ability to pay.

The Defendant had been gainfully employed for several years. By his own admission, he lost those jobs due to tardiness. He did not lose those jobs due to any health condition. He worked in customer service. In other words, he was not limited to employment in the field of manual labor. Even if the court believed that the Defendant suffered from arthritis, this would not mean that he could not find work in customer service.

The Defendant has not alleged, much less established, that any medical professional has evaluated him as being disabled to any degree. To the contrary, the psychological report described his medical complaints as “rather implausible.” CP 35. The report places the alleged condition of hypothyroidism in quotation marks (CP 30), possibly because a low thyroid should cause weight gain where the Defendant is somewhat slim. CP 28 (“6’ at 153 pounds”). The report described the Defendant’s “histrionics” and “feigned emotionality.” CP 28. It found the Defendant to be “opportunistic, [] overwhelmingly insincere, disingenuous, manipulative, [] conspicuously not taking responsibility,” and “transpicuous in his efforts to [] evoke sympathy and [] manipulate.” CP 32. In other words, the only source of information on the Defendant’s disability is not a credible source.

Even if his claims of disability were credible, this does not render him unable to work or unable to earn \$50 a month. At the same time that the Defendant had been applying for disability, he had been attending college in the culinary arts. He had a goal of finding employment. Even with the conviction, nothing stops him from continuing his pursuit of this and other vocations, including his goals of teaching (adults) and writing.

The Defendant is young. He has ambition and intelligence. He is able to pay \$50 a month toward his court costs when he is released. The court's finding is well supported in the record.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based upon the forgoing, the State respectfully requests this Court affirm the Appellant's conviction.